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ABSTRACT
CHURCH BUILDING AND RESTORATION IN LEICESTERSHIRE, 1800-1914

- Ph.D. thesis by Geoffrey K. Brandwood

This thesis aims to provide the first comprehensive review of church
building and restoration in an English county between 1800 and 1914.
Architectural trends and arrangements of furnishings and fittings
receive the gqreatest attention, together with the setting of local
events in the national context. The condition and appearance of
churches in the pre-Ecclesiological era are considered and a rather
more favourable picture built up than that inherited from the nineteenth
century. The rise of Ecclesiology is examined and it is clear that

Leicestershire follows rather than plays a leading part in national
trends. Throughout emphasis is placed on statistical information to

illuminate the points under discussion, for example, to assess the
impact of the restoration movement on local churches; the claim that
restoration was destruction is critically examined, particularly in
relation to G.G. Scott. It is shown that from about 1870 there was a
great need for new churches in Leicester, and, although tRhre were
some notable buildings provided, there was a general tendency towards
architectural simplicity which led back to the values embodied in the
pre-Victorian buildings. This is also associated with chanaing
stylistic fashions;: after the flowering of the Gothic Revival, its
waning is traced and examples given of the use of non-Gothic styles.
The above themes are generally treated chronologically. They are fol-
lowed by separate treatments of the processes of selecting architects
(the clear evidence is limited), building materials and their
application (Leicestershire has an excellent diversity of materials),
and the methods of funding the work.

Back-up material is provided in a series of Appendices. Of these the
longest and most important are the ones summarising the work done at
each church, the work of individual architects, and a review of the
amount and timing of activity in other selected counties. The latter
seems to show that not all counties follow the Leicestershire pattern,
which peaks in the 1860s.
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ABBREVIATIONS

The following abbreviations do not conform with British Standard 4148. In

cadses where works are also cited in the Bibliography of Leicestershire 5
Churches, the same abbreviations have been used for the sake of consis-
tency. Abbreviations used only in Appendices One and Three are listed

at the start of the Appendix in question.

AAS - Associated Architectural Societies' Reports and Papers
Archit - The Architect

BAA - Journal of the British Archaeological Association

BFLC - Manuscript/typescript notes of Canon B.F.L. Clarke in the library
of the Council for the Care of Churches, lLondon
Bldr - The Builder

BN - Building News
ChBldr - The Church Builder

Eccl -~ The Ecclesiologist

GD - G. Dickinson et al., Rutland Churches before the Restorers: An

Early Victorian Album of Watercolours and Drawings {(London, 1983)
GPNH - Goddard architectural papers at Newton Harcourt Hall

HPM - Hinckley Parish Magazine, Village Advertiser, and Local Church
Reporter ' ‘
ICBS - (Incorporated) Church Building Society

JDBa - J.D. Bennett, Leicestershire Architects 1700-1850 (lLeicester, 1968)
JDBb -~ J.D. Bennett, Who was Who in Leicestershire 1500-1970
(Loughborough, 1975)

LAHS - Transactions of the lLeicestershire Archaeological and Historical

Society
LC - Leicester Chronicle
LJ - Leicester Journal

LRN&Q - Leicestershire and Rutland Notes and Queries

LRO - Leicestershire Records Office

MHA - Market Harborough Advertiser

NRO -~ Northamptonshire Record Office
PDC [Xear] - Peterborough Diocesan Calendar, (Clerqgy List) and Almanac

for [year]
RANHS - Annual Report and Transactions of the Rutland Archaeological
and Natural History Society N

SADC - Society of Antiquaries Drawings Collection

SM - Stamford Mercury



X1

SPAB =~ Society for the Preservation of Ancient Buildings
SSG = Sir Stephen Glynne's church notes in the Clwyd Record Office

VCH, 2 - Victoria County History of Rutland, vol. 2

VCH, 5= Victoria County History of Leicestershire, vol. 5
W (year) - W. White, Directory etc,of Leicestershire and Rutland (year)

\;
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INTRODUCTION

Few parish churches in England escaped important changes in the three-
quarters of a century from the accession of Oueen Victoria to the outbreak
of the First World War and these years gave churches the last major imprint
which brought about their modern appearance. So many of the features of

wvhat might be regarded as a "typical” parish church are the result of
modifications in this era - the establishment of Gothic architecture as

a norm, rows of neatly-arranged, east-facing benches, chcir stalls, a

pulpit to one side of the chancel arch, tiled.floors, a large font somewhere

at the west end, a chancel raised a few steps above the nave and so on. In

addition, the stock of churches was doubled as new buildings were erected ¢o
serve areas of increased population ard bearinqg, almost without exception,
the types of features.listed. Many older churches were rebuilt along similar

lines.

By any architectural or cultural standards the mcvement was a highly remark-
able one and arose out of a backgrounc¢ of renewal in the Anglican Church

at large. This began i? the 1830s ard was to involve prodigious expenditure
on new churches and alterations to existing ones. This activity over church
buildings was but the material expression of a much broader movement in an
age of deep religious ccnviction. The cltanging religious and aesthetic
climate demanded buildings which were very different from those required by
the latitudinarian churchmanship of the preceding generations. The pheno-
menon was not exclusively Anglican nor, indeed, exclusively British but was
paralelled on the Continent by a new awareness of what was "approrriate”

in church architecture and furnishing. But what was special about English
events was the fervour with which architectural and religious sentiments
were interlinked. Contemporary observers were acutely aware of something
very special taking place and they recognised the crusading element behins
the developments. At the‘very height of this new movement, in the 1860s,
events were such that they encouraged the King of Prussia to despatch a

Commission to England to look "into the cause of this manifestation of

1
religious ardour”.

The architecture of the new buildings ard the changes wrought during resto-
rations sought, initially, to recapture and, later, develop and improve

on the beauty of medieval precedents. It was painfully obvious to the

Victorians that they had no style of their own for their churches. The

enthusiasm for the Gothic Revival, however, did give birth to distinctive

l. ChBldr (1862), 39.
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buildings but the inspiration ceame from long-dead styles and was effected in
a very self-concious way. This self-concious revival of ancient work and
the hot-house atmosphere of the Gothic architectural adventure in the Vic-

torian years led to a rapid flowering of ideas, but a flowering that could
not long be sustained. From about 1870 the popularity of Gothic as the
prevalent style was rapidly fading in the face of competition from other
styles, and by the end of the century it was being used sclely for churches -
and even for these it took a form which was very different from that used

in the early Victorian years.

The reaction against Victorian church building and restoration was as

- fervent as, the way the Gothic Revival had been promoted in the 1830s and
'40s. Victorian restoration provoked strong and hostile criticism, even
from the middle of the nineteenth century, on account of the level of
destruction of earlier work, that of the Middle'Ages included. The highly
distinctive Gothic architecture of the age was eiewed for most of the
ezrlier part of the twentieth century with distaste, as is so often the
case with any artistic style immediately preceding that of one's own
generation. The best that could be hoped for was a lack of discussion

at all. More usually the approach was hostile - for example, the architect |

and old-schodi writer on church architecture, H. Munro Cautley, referring
ta Norfolk wrote of "the deplorable re-construction and re-furnishing
that took place with apparently a total lack of authority to check them,
anrd no real taste to guide them. The only good thing to be said for the
nineteenth century is that there did seem to be plenty of money for their
so called restorations, almost too much you are inclined to think ﬁhen
you see to whkat lengths they went in altering the old and imposing the

new. "

Therefore it is hardly surprsing that, until after the Second World War,
v -
there was little written which approached nineteenth-century architecture

either sympathetically or seriously. Kenneth Clark's The Gothic Revival

of 1928 was the pioneering essay but there was no serviceable study on

church building of any substance since Eastlake's History of the Gothic
Revival until 1938 when Basil Clarke published his Church Builders of the
Nineteenth Century. Only after the War and, more especially since about

1960 has the period received the serious, sympathetic academic study that

it so richly deserves (it is interesting to note that Bdsil Clarke admitted
to being much more favourably disposed towards Scott and also the restoration

movement in his 196S edition than in the first edition). What has, correctly,

2. Norfolk Churches (Ipswich, 1949), 2.

&



attracted the attentions of historians to date has been the study of the
main architectural themes and the architects of the period. There are
now excellent biographies for some of the leading fiqures - Burges, Butter-

field, Pearson and Shaw (and a less satisfactory one of Scott), and descrip-

tions of individual buildings.3 There is also a history of the rise and

triumph of the Ecclesiological movement - J.F. White's The Cambridge Movement
(1962). Basil Clarke made progress in examing the restoration movement
specifically but his typescript remains unedited and unpublished.4 What

dces not yet exist is a comprehensive study of what took place in a particular
area of the country and which charts the rise of this great movement,

its triumph and its eventual decline. Elementary examinations of work

in Anglesey and Caernarvonshire were published in 1961 by M.L. Clarke,

brother of Basil Clarke.5

One recent work that considered new churches {(only) of all denominations in

a given county is IP.R. Elleray's bock The Victorian Churches of Sussex (1981)

but this is a short work which presents, essentially, a pictorial record
and less factual and discursive material than one would like. Anne Riches's

Victorian Church Building and Restoration in Suffolk (1982) attempts to look

at both new buildinas and restorations but it is extremely brief and provides

: : 6 :
a far from comprehensive treatment of the suhject. It is to be hoped

that Homan's forthcoming book on The Victorian Churches of Kent will treat
the new churches in his area more fully than Elleray's. Little work has
been done on the subject in Leicestershire, though D.M. Thompson's thesis
and subsequent article (see bibliogqraphy) discuss the subject very briefly

as part of a review of the role of the churches in society between 1850

and 1880.

It is in this context that the present study was conceived. It arose out
of the writer's interest in local Anglican churches which began in 1974

cn moving to . Leicestershire. This was origirally confined to medieval
buildings but it was soon apparent from fieldwork and also participation

in the Bibliography of Leicestershire Churches project (established by

3. The increasingly sympathetic treatment given to ninéﬁgenth-century
buildings in +he Buildings of England series since 1951 is symptomatic
of the growing appreciative awarsness of them.

4; Held in the library of the. Council for the Care of Churches.

5. "Anglesey Churches in the Nineteenth Century", Trans. Anglesey Antiq.
Scc. & Field Club (1961), 53-68, and 'Church EBuilding and Church Res-

toration in Caernarvonshire during the Nineteenth Century”, Trans.

Caernarvonshire Hist. Soc. 22 (123s1), 2z0-31,

6. Both are reviewed b the writer in Churchscape 3 (1984, forthcoming).




NDavid Parsons) that » prover understandina of the pre-1800 churches was
impossible without a knowledge of subsequent activity. The result was

the accumulation of documentary material on this period and the growing
awareness that a thorough study could and should be attempted. A particularly
influential event was the writer's work to produce an index of newspaper
material between about 1830 and 1914 in the two main local sources, the
Leicester Chronicle and the Leicester Journal. This was published as Part
Two of the Bibliography in 1980. It revealed a rich source of contemporary

material which has been amplified by a study of the other extant material

dealing with lLeicestershire.

The present study is therefore offered as a contribution to understanding

how church building and restoration operated at a local level between
the vital years of 1800 and 1914. It aims to relate local developments

to the national picture. To the knowledge of the writer no other comparable
study has been undertaken in the country, thouagh a major project for Devon
was commenced at roughly the same time as the research presented here

and which is still under way, led by Dr Chris Brooks, Ms Joanna Cox and

Dr Martin Cherry.

THE SCOPE OF THIS THESIS

The aim is to present a comprehensive survey of the work that took place

in all lLeicestershire churches that existed in 1800 and those that were

built or rebuilt before 1914. To keep the study manageable, only Anglican
buildings are considered but these are the key ones in terms of architec-
tural developments and responses. In all, some 387 buildings are involved,

. 7 . \
including a few that have been demolished. The term "Leicestershire”™

needs a little explanation. It has the same gqeographical coverage as the

Bibliography of Leicestershire Churches, which also includes Rutland., It

also covers, for the same reason, two churches within the Diocese of Leices-
ter but which lie just across the county boundary - Stanford-on-Avon in
Northamptonshire and Wibtoft in Warwickshire. If another definition is

required in discussing particular points, this is clarified in the text

at the appropriate point.

Even the term "church”" needs to be made clear. It includes all the Anglican
parish churches and chapels in existence in 1800 and all subsequent ones

8 :
built by 1914. Mission churches, however, are not included in depth since

most have now gone and there is very little documentary evidence about

7. These are Barrow and Leicester Christ Church, St Hilda, St Luke, St Leonard.

8. Snibstone, St James planned in 1914 but built in 1915 is included.



them.

The survey of work on architecture and fittings does involve a couple

of omissions which require a word of explanation. These are monuments

and stained glass. Monuments are a specialised subject and one for which
the documentary sources used here are usually silent; it would not have
been possible to treat them adequately. Furthermore the nineteenth-century
contributions were far less important than those of the previous century.
The same certainly cannot be said of stained glass. There are over 1,200
windows with decorative designs dating from between about 1825 to 1914,

and these are a major study in their own right. They have enormously impor-
tant aesthetic results but only in very rare cases do they represent a
comprehensive scheme planned by the architect responsible for the building
or restoration (e.g. Hambleton, 1895). Frequently it was only the east
window that waé put in at the time of the main restoration. What complicates
the study of stained glass is the incredible lack of information about
makers. Contemporary descriptions in newspapers and journals are confined
in most cases, at best, to the name(s) of the donor(s) and a description

of the scene depicted. Windows tended to be private gifts and information

. 1s generally absent from the parish records. Justice cannot therefore be
done to this important subject here. A separate study using close stylistic

analysis would be necessary.

DOCUMENTARY SOURCES

-

Appendix One gives details of the work (or lack of it) at every church

in the area under review, but there are some cases where the lack of infor-
mation is tantalising. For example, we do not know precisely what was

done apd/or when and by whom at, for example, Loddington, Ryhall and Swith-
land. This is not for the want of attention to the documentary material.
There is generally no shortage of this and the problem has tended to be

one of coping with vast amounts of it, rather than its absence. Despite

the voluminous source material, some of the evidence surviving is found

in unexpected and out-of-the-way locations; other information, often impor-
tant,_is met with sometimes in a single casual reference. For example, the
information that G.E. Street restored Normanton-le-Heath is tucked away

in the files of the ICBS and that H.I. Stevens built Donisthorpe seems

to be confined to aﬂ'invitation to tender for the work in the Derby Mer-
cury in 1837. The cryptic comment in White's Direcéﬁrx of 1877 that Ryhall
was “resto;ed“ for £400 in 1857 is sufficiently vague to be unhelpful. At

the time of the work there was little or no thought of ‘recording for pos-

terity what was taking place and a meticulous hand-written account of

&



the happenings at Seaton in 1874-5 is most exceptional.9 The haphazard

nature of the surviving evidence underlines the lack of interest in Vvic-

torian work. Less than a hundred years later most parishes do not seem to
possess the basic documents such as faculties, architects' specifications

and builders' contracts for the main nineteenth-century works.

The full details of material consulted are given in the Bibliography, but
the main sources may be stated briefly here - parish records, newspapers,
contemporary learned journals, directories, Visitation accounts, faculty
transcripts, and the records of such bodies as the ICBS and SPAB. Information
in primary sources has, of course, been accepted in prefernce to secondary
material, unless there are compelling reasons to do otherwise. The infor-
mation in the newspapers proved of particular value and often filled in
gaps where parish material has disappeared. Also they report work that
has been done wQereas faculty and other records only speak of intentions
'and there is no certainty that the proposals were always executed. Local
journals kept a qood record of work carried out from the early '60s and

there 1s, of course, the usual range of reviews in the national architec-

tural press.

FIELDWORK

Every surviving church built and in use by 1914 was visited between July

1980 and May 1982. Comprehensive notes were made on site on a standard
recording form (see Appendix Nine). This was devised at the outset and
proved workable throughout. The objective was to record the absence of par-
ticular features, just as much as the existence of others. For instance,

it is as important to know about the absence of sedilia and piscinas in

the 1840s at particular churches as their existence at others. The front

of the form was devised to record such standardised information and provide
comments about particular features; the reverse was used for general dis-

cussion purposes. The two sides were generally adequate, except in the

cases of major buildings or especially interesting schemes of restoration.

THE CONTENT OF THIS THESIS

The main body of the text is concerned with tracing the development of
church architecture, fittings and furnishings in Leicestershire. Throughout,
emphasis has been placed on relating what took placé (or failed to take
place) locally to the broader national architectural and religious develop-

ments. As J.M. Crook points out “Nineteenth-cenfury architecture richly

9., LRO DE 1883/57.
\



repays analysis couched 1in economic, social and religious terms“.lo The
examination of a finite area in deptﬁkives ample opportunity to study
these aspects of the period. They are a necessary background for a full
understanding of the period and attention has therefore been devoted to
questions such as the Ecclesiological awareness of the area, the selection
of architects, the means of funding activity in church building, and the
interaction of local events with national bodies , notably the ICBS and
SPAB. Particular attention is devoted to the work of particular architects
working in the area, both national fiqgures (especially the#prolific G.G.
Scott) and-the the local men who took up, with varying degrees of success,
the ideas of the former. A practice that receives particular notice is
that of the Goddards whose work is in evidence right through from about
1840 to 1914. It is highly instructive as it follows the whole gamut of
ideas during these 75 crucial years. 1t ié possible to trace in their
“work the rise of Ecclesiology, the extravaganza of High Victorian architec-
ture, and the eventual decline of the church building and restoration
movement. Only by following in detail such local events can the full impact

of nineteenth- and early twentieth-century activity on English churches be

assessed.

It is important to set Leicestershire in the context of events in other
parts of the country. However, 1in viewithe limited amount of detailed

work that has been done elsewhere, it is not possible to do more than
speculate as to its "typicality". There is little exceptional about the
geography of the county except that it has a wide variety of building
materials available which had an interesting and varied impact on the
fabrics of churches (see Chapter Eight). Economically the county was (and
is) relatively prosperous, with one major centre of population - Leicester -
a scattering of small towns, and a large number of villages. Apart from

the coalfield and the fringes of Leicester, the latter were almost entirely
dependent on agriculture. lLeicester itself depended on industry, particularly
hosiery and footwear. The other towns usually depended on a mixture of
small-scale industry and the agriculture of the surrounding districts.

The growth of Leicester demanded a stock of new churches and the development

of the coalfield in the west of the county a similar, though lesser, supply.
The county embraces a good variety of geographical conditions in with

the response towards church building and restoration may be examined.

&

The question of leanings in the county's churchmanship are discussed in

-Chapter Two but here it needs to be said that it does not seem to have

10. "The Pre-Victorian Architect; Professionalism and Patronage”, Archit.

Hist. 12 (1969), 62-78.




displayed any particularly strong High Church or Evangelical trends. The
halance seems to have been on the side of the Low Church, which is to

be expected in an area which had quite a tradition of Nonconformity.
Leicestershire certainly provides a contrast to the Ecclesiological
propensities of High Church Devon. The church architectural results may
well reflect this position. There is no strong early evidence of local
people being taken up with advanced Ecclesiological views, but, there is
little or no resistence to such views as they gradually percolated into
everyday architectural thinking. One phenomenon which received particularly
strong reaction was that the apparently strengthening position of the
.Roman Catholiés. "Papal Agression” in general and the establishment of

the Catholics in Charnwood in particular, seems to have had a direct

effect on some of the local work in Anglican churches (see pp. 93-6).

All that can be done at this stage is to attempt a crude comparison with
other counties in terms of when church building and restoration was
carried out. The Leicestershire picture picture is summarised in Chapter

Ten. Other counties are reviewed in Appendix Eight.

The research for this study has enabled a fairly comprehensive picture

to be developed of what was done at each church and a statement of the
involvement of individual architects can be produced. These factual details
are presented in Appendices One to Three. What is apparent is that only

a handful of churches escaped major activity between 1800 and 1914 and

that a very large number of architects from many different places contributed
to the work. At no time, even during the active years about 1300, was

there so much happening as between about 1840 and 1890. Activity tailed

off rapidly thereafter so that during the twentieth century there have
probably been as few, if not fewer, major schemes than in the early part

of the nineteenth century.



CHAPTER ONE

THE EIGHTEENTH-CENTURY INHERITANCE

In 1800 Anglican churches were being built and furnished along the lines
evolved in the two and a half centuries since the Reformation. Medieval
churches were ill-adapted to the requirements of the sixteenth-century
Prayer Books and numerous experiments took place to meet the changed
circumstances. Before the Reformation parish churches were compartmenta-
lised structures and lacked a main liturgical centre. Rather there were
several - the font, the pulpit, and, above all, more than one altar.

After the mid-sixteenth century the focus in the Church of England became
the pulpit and reading desk and the tendency was towards corporate, par-
ticipative worship. The emphasis was on the Word of God rather than the
dimly-seen mysteries of the altar. In England, as in other Protestant
countries, the chancel had become largely superfluous by the eighteenth
century and the result was the development of single-cell buildings with a
strong focus on the central area. The liturgical space occupied by the
congregation was linked as closely as possible with that used by the
clergy.1 In its extreme form, the trend away from the disparate medieval
church was expressed by a few buildings which adopted but one liturgical
centre. The rococo box at Shobdon, Herefordshire, is a good example with
its grouping of chancel, pulpit and font, as is Halston chapel, Whittington,

. s : 2
Shropshire, with a similar concentration at the east end.

. : ; 3
Whilst the auditory church was the fundamental expression of Anglicanism,

a characteristic of eighteenth-century church building was the failure
of any one type of building plan or set of internal arrangements to
dominate — a marked contrast to the uniformity acheived from the 1840s.
This diversity is seen in a number of key buildings in Leicestershire.
The classic site is Kings Norton (1757-75), a "perfect expression of

eighteenth-century Anglicanism, its lucidity, its classical view of life,

1. J.F.. White, Protestant Worship and Church Architecture (New York, 1964),
78-117 ®
é. For these and other experiments, see G.W.0. Addleshaw & F. Etchells,

The Architectural Setting of Anglican Worship (London, 1950).

3. Even in cathedrals, e.g. Wyatt's restorations; see S. Tschudi-Madsen

Restoration and Anti-Restoration (2nd ed., Oslo, Bergen, Tromso, 1976),

22.
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its freedom from cant and humbug, its objectivity".4 The church is an im-
pressive, tall rectangle in surprisingly serious Gothic, built by the
younger John Wing for William Fortrey. It is constructed of brick and
faced with white Ketton Btone.5 The interior is practically untouched
eighteenth-century work and is dominated by a three-decker pulpit in

the centre, two-thirds of the way towards the east end. It forms the

focus for the worshippers in the pews, gallery and, presumably originally,
moveable seats in the wide, central alley. The space before the communion
table is approached by gates either side of the pulpit, but this spo.ce
and the table itself are aesthetically and functionally secondary to

the pulpit group. In this case the font was (and is) located at the west

end. As usual in eighteenth-century churches the entrance was at the

west, under the tower. (See plate 3 for a central pulpit).

Another series of buildingé in the county of great significance was built
for the fcurth Earl of Harborough, probably all by George Richardson. They
are Saxby (1789), Stapleford (1783) and Teigh (1782), which exhibit some
important and diverse characteristics of late eighteenth-century church
building. Country churches of such quality, as here and at Kings Norton,
are invariably the result of wealthy and/or aristocratic patronage, which
probably had a major influence on the architecture adopted. Lord Harbo-
rough's churches display both Gothic (Stapleford) and classical (Saxby)

. o 6 :
idioms. The west entrance, through the tower, is standard throughout,

but otherwise there is much variety of plan - a medievally-arranged

nave and chancel at Saxby, a T-plan at Stapleford and a simple rectangle
at Teigh. The interior of Saxby was sadly gutted by Joseph Goddard in
1874 but the other two retain their original furnishings. Teigh is a
particularly precious survival. The seats are arranged in college fas-
hion so the congregation can easily turn to either of the liturgical
centres, the communion table/font at the east end and the raised pulpit
group in the west wall over the entrance. The font was a small wooden
one attached to the communion rail. All three buildings had ceilings
(although Saxby's has gone). Stapleford retains its excellent gallery

but whether Saxby had one-is not known. The collegiate seating arrange-

ment is repeated at Stapleford.

4. Addleshaw & Etchells, op. cit., ©0.
5. J. Brushe, St John the Baptist, Kings Norton, Leicestershire (Kings

Norton, revised 1976), no pagination.

6. The present Gothic windows are not original. They were inserted around

1893: AAS 22 (1893-4), 38.
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The other church of far more than local significance is Tickencote, re-
modelled in 1792 by S.P. Cockerell for Eliza Wingfield. The extraordinarily
rich Norman chancel was reworked faithfully in the spirit, if not the

archaeology of the original. Almost certainly it is the first example
of self-conscious Norman Revival work, as is the rest of the structure,

rebuilt in a free Norman manner. It received a pulpit at the west end,7

ceiling and box-pews. (See plate 1).

These five churches diSplay characteristics which it is important to
understand in order to assess the significance and course of early nine-
teenth-century developments. These characteristics may be summarised as
follows.

A variety of plans. Despite the fact that the medieval plan was redundant

for Prayer Book worship, the structurally separate chancel was still some-
times erected, e.g. Saxby or Snarestone (1752). At other churches (even

by the same architect and for the same patron) it was abandoned, e.g.

Teigh or Kings Norton. The T-plan was also in evidence, as at Stapleford,

and also just across the county boundary at East Carlton, Northamptonshire .«

(1788 by the younger Wing),

West entrances. In Midland churches north and south doorways are an almost
invariable rule for medieval churches. In the post-Reformation church

they were redundant and had no symbolic or liturgical use. All new and
rebuilt churches from the seventeenth century in Leicestershire dispensed
with them, even in that remarkable example of Gothic Survival, Staunton

Harold (1653 onwards). The west entrance remained standard until about

1840.

Variety of style. Leicestershire reveals interesting examples of eighteenth-
century Gothic(k), and also classical motifs. Galby (1741l) by the elder
Wing, displays a curious mixture of Gothic idiom alongside conventional
eighteenth-century doorways and windows, as does Snarestone. Yet Kings
Norton is a remarkably fine example of pure Gothic, which was probably

a matter of self-conscioﬁs revival, rather than the survival of a popular
building tradition. By contrast, more minor work at Ragdale (1767) reveals
in the parapets of the chancel and south porch a poorly understood Gothic
vocabulary, that is not matched by the altogether more serious treatment

of the intersected east window. Here the use of Gothic at this time was

due as Eastlake pointed out, "rather to a respect for the integrity of

7. SM 30 May 1862.
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8
the building than to a love of the style." Gothic, however, was entirely

abandoned for Saxby and the nave at Teigh.

Building materials. Despite the late-medieval use of brick in Leicester-
shire for secular buildings, Bradgate chapel (c. 1500) is the only instance
of brick being used for a church before the late seventeenth century.

In the eighteenth century it was used much more widely in the county

as it became cheaper than stone. Carlton, Snarestone and Walton-le-Wolds
all have extensive displays of ‘brick, and stone is merely a facing material
at Kings Norton. Brick was commonly used for porches grafted on to earlier
churches, e.g. Braunstone (c. 1704?), Worthington (dated 1781) and Hinckley

(removed 1809). Brick was also widely used for patching and repairs.

Otherwise stone remained in use, especially in the east of the county
where excellent building stones were available. However, both stone and
brick could be used in the same area. The tower at Measham was rebuilt
in local sandstone, probably about 1737, yet in the neighbouring village

of Snarestone the new church of 1752 was entirely brick-built.

Seating. The Xcation of the pulpit and desk had profound implications
for the arrangemént of the pews. The orientation of the seats was not
related to the communion table but to the pulpit‘aﬁd therefore they did
not necessarily face east. It was common for them to be placed round
three or even four sides of the box pews, as at Orton-on-the-Hill down

to the present time.9 Yet this was by no means universal as the east-
facing seats in the box-pews at Breedon-on-the-Hill (of the 1790s?)

prove.

Position of the font. There was some sense in placing the font towards
the east end of the church, where it could be seen more easily than in
the recesses of the west end. At Teigh the font was attached to the communion

rails. That at Stapleford was moveable and could be screwed into the
middle of the nave when required. Elsewhere it was located in a more
traditional position near the west end and could form a liturgical centre
in its own right. For example, at Kings Norton and Orton-on-the-Hill it

was in the centre of a christening pew. .

Types of font. This subject is discussed more fully on pp. 57-8 but the

8. C.L. Eastlake, The History of the Gothic Revival (London, 1872, reprin-
ted, 2nd ed., Leicester, 1978), 6l.

9, Pews with seats on two or more sides cannot be traced earlier than

1601, at Barking, Suffolk, according to E.L. Cutts, A Dictionarz of
the Church of Enaland (London, 2né ed., 1889}, 459.



13

swing away from Prayer Book requirements for immersion meant that a large

medieval-type font was no longer essential.

Galleries. Galleries are discussed in depth on pp. 51-5 and here it

needs merely to be noted that they were standard items of furnishing

and were an expression of the desire by the Church of England to
accommodate as many people as possible with a full view of the main litur-
gical centre. The evidence of, say, Gaddesby, where padstones indicate

the presence of a former gallery in an enormous church in a small village,

suggests they were sometimes put in even when there was no pressure on

space for accommodation.

Ceilings. Ceilings were a‘fufther expression of the intimacy of worship
desired in the Anglican church at this period. They made churches more
humah places for services by cutting out the dim recesses of the roof_
space. Excellent eighteenth-century ceilings survive at, for example,

Stapleford and Withcote (c. 1744). Routine village work exists at Orton-
On-the-Hill .

Decoration. Decoration was kept to a minimum. Walls were always plastered
and invariably white. A clean, bright interior (without stained glass)
was thq rule, as is exemplified by Kings Norton. Only rarely was a wall
decorated. A charming example is the mock window in the west wall at

Teigh with its imaginery branches of a tree beyond.

*"Shams®™ and stucco. The Teigh window is a sham. The Puginian concept

of the shaﬁ held no moral terrors for the eighteenth-century builder

or churchman. Nothing was considered wrong in building Kings Norton in
brick and then facing it with stone. Similarly the "real construction”

of external walls was often obscured by stucco, a practical precautiqn
against weathering, particularly in areas of easily-weathered stone
(especially in the marlstone belt). Stucco survives on several churches
(e.g. Bitteswell, Galby and Tugby) but there is no certain way of knowing
whether or not it is eighteenth-century. Wooden window frames and tracery
to imitate the Y-form was acceptable as a cheap expedient (e.g. Mount-

sorrel at the west end and Queniborough, east end of the north aisle).

Respect for older work. Generally eighteenth-century vestries and their
builders paid little respect towards medieval work in adapting and rebuilding
churches to meet contemporary needs. The loss of aisles probably occurred
from an early date after the Reformation because théy became redundant

with the loss of side chapels. The process continued throughout ;he eigh-

. 10
teenth century as at Orton-on-the-Hill 1n 1764, Foston (faculty dated

10. BFLC.
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1766),1 and Wadip in 1796 , At Tﬁurnby the chancel was removed about
13

1779 under a faculty. The new chancel at Manton, dated 1796, though
charming, is out of harmony with the rest of the church. Sometimes, as
Eastlake suggested, an effort was made to blend new Gothic work with

the old, e.g. the Ragdale example mentioned above, and the tower pinnacles

at Great Casterton, dated 1792.

It is quite likely that many schemes were long overdue and frequently

it took a long time to get them underway. Evidence for this can best

be seen in the system of church briefs. This was a cumbersome, expensive
and inefficient way of raising money.14 For example, a petition for a

brief to remove the aisles at Sheepy was made in April 1767 and was granted

in June 1768. However, the work was not done until 1778 and a confirmatory

15
faculty for it was given in 1779. Similarly, a brief in January 1784

for Breedon-on-the-Hill was not followed up by work being carried out
until the 17905.16 Minor schemes financed by the parish probably had
much shorter gestation periods, but there seems every likelihood that
parish politics and difficulties led to delays. Nichols quotes one such
case at Claybrooke, where, in 1786, the proposal to introduce a gallery
was objected to vigofrously by a churchwarden who said that not only

would it interrupt the light entering the church, but the occupants would

disturb those below "by spitting upon them, and by other acts of rude-

17
ness®[!]

Furthermore the system of briefs was a notoriously inefficient way of
raising funds. The rules for obtaining a brief required that the proposed
"works would cost over £1,000 and it is curious how many proposals just
crept o#ér the limit. Of the twelve leicestershire briefs for 1768-84,
eleven fall in the range £1,009-£1,108! There were frequent complaints
that the sums collected barely covered the costs. These worked out at

" a more or less fixed charge of £230-£240 in the late eighteenth century,
at which time a brief could be fairly safely relied upon to generate

not much more than between £330 and £500. Claybrooke again provides an

1l. BFLC.

l12. Anon, Our Lady and St Nicholés, Wanlip, Leicestershire (wWanlip, 1967), 3.
13. AAS 11 (1871-2), 183.

14. Full details of the procedure is given in W.A. Bewes, Church Briefs

(London, 1896).
15. ibid., 332; BFLC; A. MCCulley, The Parish Church of All Saints, Sheepy

(Sheepy, 1963): 2.

16. Confirmatory faculty issued March 1794 (BFLC).
17. Nichols 4 (i), 107,
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instance. A brief issued in 1765 for £1,103 to rebuild or repair much

of the church raised only £165, and in 1767 £135 had to be raised by a
18

“

church rate. Most briefs collected little from individual parishes.

The Claybrooke brief raised 5s. 4d. from the nearby parish of Misterton.19

The parishioners from further away Hambelton were even less generous,

contributing a miserable 2s. 6d. on each of four occasions of Leicestershire
2 :

briefs. 0 After lengthy agitation, this system of obtaining cash, totally

inappropriate to the needs of the nineteenth century, was abolished in

1828.

Most funds no doubt came from the church rates levied by the vestry,
but in certain places the work was paid for exclusively by a wealthy

patron. The lavish works at all. five churches discussed at the beginning

of this chapter were paid for in this way.

The time it took to bring a scheme to fruition can hardly have been conducive
to good maintenance but it would be very wrong to conclude that the age
was one of total neglect, as the mid-Victorians were prone to imply. Some
of the schemes mentioned in this chapter are proof of that. Nor afe they
the only ones. Other important works can be cited at Braunston 1728,
Carlton ¢c. 1764, Carlton Curlieu 1767, Croft 1769, Hinckley 1788 (spire
rebuilt), Hugglescote 1770s, Lutterworth ¢. 1760, Rolleston 1740, Shacker-
stone ¢. 1776, Sharnford 1770s, Sibson c. 1727, Swithland 1727, and Thur-
laston 1779. There were, in addition, many minor schemes for seating,
galleries, ceilings, general repairs etc. Detailed work has yet to be

done on this but it is to be hoped that much of the necessary data will

be forthcoming with the publication of Part Three of the Bibliogfaghx

of Leicestershire Churches (forthcoming).

All this activity tends to go against the received opinion from the nine-
teenth century that the eighteenth century let its churches languish

in an uncared for, disgraceful state. There is no doubt that many of

the criticisms were justified but to suppose that all was bad would be

a naive oversimplification. What was wrong in the eighteenth century
was probably similar to most previous centuries. Even in the golden days

21
of Charles I, archdeacons found much to fault at numerous local churches.

18. BFLC.

19. LRO DE 452/3.
20. Register, 1716-49 (in church at Jan. 198l1; now in LRO)

21. See A.P. Moore, "Leicestershire Churches in the Time of Charles I" in Mem-

orials of 0ld leicestershire, ed. A. Dryden (London, 1911), 142-63.



16

Yet this was an age which the mid-nineteenth century came to much admire;
if the age of Laud could not maintain its churches properly, it is hard

to see that the eighteenth century would have managed much better. The

sort of seﬁenty-page diatribe by Abbey and Overton in The English Church

in the Eighteenth Centurx;z2 ignores much so0lid, practical churchmanship

and the genuine desire to keep churches in a reasonable state. Provided
one does not look at the age from the standpoint of the Victorian hot-
house of Ecclesiological and religious fervour, it is possible to produce

a much more sympathetic judgement. This change of view is reinforced

by such work as that done in Devon which led Warne to conclude that

23 Basil

activity actually increased as the eighteenth century wore on.
Clarke's work favours a similar positidn. He concludes, "it can probably
be said that, on the whole, churches were fairly well kept ... It does
not seem possible to come to ahy conclusion except the obvious one -
that some churches were kept in good order, and some were not. But the
evidence of parish records suggests that, on the whole, churchwardens
and vestries did their duty, and raised, and spent, adequate money for

church repairs."z4

22. {London, 2nd ed., 1887, 403-75.

23. A. Warne, Church and Societx in Eighteenth-Century Devon (Newton

24, B.F.L. Clarke, The Building of the Eighteenth-Century Church (London,
1963 ) ’ 8-9l
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CHAPTER TWO

LEICESTERSHIRE CHURCHES, 1800-1840

THE CONDITION OF CHURCHES

The unfavourable view of the eighteenth century held by the Victorians
applied with equal, or even greatey force to the early nineteenth century.
A typical comment was expressed by a local writer discussing Oaks~-in-
Charnwood church, built in 1815; it "is simply abominable except for

its situation and the ivy which clothes its ugliness .... [Al]t that period
no man living knew how to build a church, nor, in fact anything else.“1
This sort of sentiment was typical of Pugin, Ruskin and the mainstream
Ecclesiological writers. Even John Carter, Pugin's intellectual pre-
decessor,2 with his stream of attacks on destruction, neglect and false
restorations, had little time for the productions of his own age. His

212 articles for the Gentleman's Magazine between 1798 and 1817 are
couched in pungent, combative terms. What makes Carter especially interes-
ting is that he is writing of his own time and not looking back, as the
Victorians were, from a world with a very different intellectual climate.

His words mean it would be wrong to dismiss the Victorian accusations as

pure propaganda for the new cause of Ecclesiology.

This chapter follows on from the last by attempting to assess the condition
of churches in Leicestershire in the early nineteenth century, before
proceeding to examine the limited number of new churches, and the principles

that guided the design of their furnishings and fittings, and the

arrangements in existing ones.

The editors of The Ecclesiologist in the early years were masters of

overstatement in cataloguing cases of decay, irreverence and neglect.

oS
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